FFGC History: OUR FOURTH DECADE: 1955-1964
Jessie Connor chose as theme “Facing Florida’s Future” and brought to it a richness of experience in past endeavors at the local, district, state, region and national levels. 

Among highlights of Mrs. Conner’s administration were $15,193 contributed to National Council’s “Permanent Home Fund” from Florida members and clubs, participating in the  “Buy a Brick” campaign or from special functions profits; having the names of Mrs. John R. Parkinson, Mrs. Eugene A. Smith and Mrs. Vernon L. Conner inscribed in the “Garden of Givers” and that of Mrs. Helen Cutten in the “Golden Book”.

Following the emphasis of the previous administration, the report at the 1959 convention listed 77 flower shows, 572 accredited judges and 22 instructors. 85 applications were processed for Teacher Conservation Workshops, 48 attended Blanche Covington Nature Study Courses, attendance at outstanding Short Courses at UF and University of Miami increased each year.
Two beautiful State Flower Shows were held- “Florida-rama” at Eustis in 1957, with Kathryn Chester’s unique poem of the same name being dedicated to FFGC President Mrs. Conner, and “Florida—The Floral Way” at Pensacola in 1959. Profits from the shows were earmarked for an “Executive Office Fund”. A total of 25,524 copies of the 1959 Florida Flower Arrangement Calendar sold brought $18,819.98.

The 13th H. Harold Hume Fellowship was given. A $500,000 Scholarship in Landscape Design and the Lucille Turner Junior Garden Club Leader Scholarship of $50.00 were established. 11 Blue Star Markers were erected, 34 names were added to the FFGC Life Membership roster, 537 applications were made for state awards and 36 for national; Flannelgraph, Bird-o-graph and Litter-grams were produced to assist junior gardeners. “Program Patterns”, edited by Mrs. C. R. Mayes, Jr., and the “Florida Garden Club Manual,” edited by Mrs. Karl A. Bickel, were published. The Florida Gardener reverted to four issues per year but was increased to 36 pages. Presentation of Silver Traveling Trophies at State Flower Shows became a welcomed innovation, European Garden Tours with Thomas Duffy Travel Agency were begun, sale of Wild Flower napkins was added to money-making projects, and “Certificate of Membership” was given to each FFGC club, listings of private gardens to be visited were published with the cooperation of the Florida Development Commission, Ruth Pettijohn’s horticultural displays at conventions were joys to behold and district meetings were made colorful by her “Garden Cart” from which the profits of $1,009.85 was earmarked toward landscaping the dreamed-of Headquarters, the total number of Bird Sanctuaries in Florida rose to 77 and the total number of garden centers to 100, Dade County Council of Garden Club Presidents raised funds to build and equip a slat house at South Florida Mental Hospital, winning national recognition in garden therapy; a new Plant Distribution List was compiled, FFGC Membership dues were raised to $1.00, its membership increased to 27,019 plus an additional 860  in probationary clubs and 13,015 junior gardeners.

On April 9, 1959, delegates to our 33rd Annual Convention voted favorably on the motion to accept the recommendation from the BOD that the Federation accept the offer of the City of Winter Park to lease a parcel of land in the southwest corner of Mead Botanical Garden; described as 600 feet along Maitland Ave. and 220 feet deep comprising approximately three acres for a period of 99 years for the sum of $10.00—such property to be used as the site of a Headquarters Building for the Federation. And, that the board be authorized to proceed with all possible speed to the erection of a State Headquarters building. This recommendation had been prepared for presentation to convention delegates after careful consideration by the BOD meeting at Jacksonville Beach of the recommendations of a Headquarters Investigating Committee composed of Mrs. C. R. Mayes, Jr., Mrs. Melville Hall, Mrs. Earl W. Lau, Mrs. Harry M. Griffin, Miss Mary S. Compton, Mrs. Karl A. Bickel, Mrs. John R. Parkinson and Mrs. Connor. It read:

“1. Acceptance of approximately 3.03 acres in a beautiful wooded area of Mead Gardens offered by the City of Winter Park for a State Headquarters.

2. Earmarking income for the 1959 Florida Flower Arrangement Calendar, the 1959 European Garden Tour, the 1959 State Flower Show as “Executive Office Fund,” transferring $2,500.00 from State Life Membership Fund to “Executive Office Fund” and crediting half the cost of future memberships to this fund, cashing Government Bonds and crediting to “Executive Office Fund” and transferring from General Fund to the “Executive Office Fund” an amount up to $10,000.
3. That opportunities for contributions be provided—these to be listed in the 1959 Spring Edition of The Florida Gardener. 

4. The secretary at Headquarters to be known as “Office Manager”.
These recommendations by the BOD were adopted on February 4, 1959. Mrs. Conner’s quote at the 1959 convention was prophetic: “What we have done for ourselves dies with us. What we have done for others and the world, remains and is immortal!”

“Gardening for Tomorrow” proved to be a prophetic theme, as well as one of vision, for the administration of Mrs. C. R. Mayes, Jr. who was installed at the 1959 convention in Jacksonville.

The thought to train Florida’s youth in an appreciation of nature and understanding of conservation as one means of implementing the theme expanded from Federation sponsorship of the first Junior Nature Camp, held in Ocala National Forest in cooperation with the Florida Game and Fresh Water Fish Commission, to planning first for conservation building in the forest then for the Federation’s own Youth Camp which was destined to reach fruition with the opening of Wekiwa in the summer of 1974. A new Federation project “The Penny Jar for Little People” was started in clubs and circles throughout the state, with proceeds earmarked for a conservation-related building fund.
Groundbreaking for our Headquarters Building in Mead Garden January 6, 1960-less than a year after delegates voted to establish a headquarters-was an auspicious occasion. Mrs. Mayes graciously handed to Mrs. Vernon L. Conner, who envisioned and initiated the project, the gold shovel for turning the first earth. Actual construction began two months later on March 21.

Florida’s 30,143 Garden Club members contributed five cents each toward erection of a plastic greenhouse at Raiford State Prison, beamed at beautifying the prison and rehabilitating the inmates many of whom evidenced interest in being trained as nurserymen and ornamental horticulturists against the time they would return take their place in society and need gainful occupations. (For more info read the 2 October 1987 South Florida SunSentinal paper.) The greenhouse at Raiford Prison-with the Federation’s official seal in replica on a marble slab imbedded in a low concrete wall bordering the structure as a permanent tribute to friends who helped-was dedicated May 23, 1960. Shortly thereafter when a CA nurseryman donated $10,000 worth of orchids to the prison appeals by officials for state funds with which to erect a second greenhouse for this collection received prompt approval-a testimony to the inmates trained by assistance from the FFGC garden therapy program. The five cents per member invested in the greenhouse and lath house at Raiford prison showed ratifying returns when the Better Citizens Club, its membership comprised of 25 inmates, enrolled in the horticulture training program, staged the first flower show at the prison. 
Other firsts in the administration included initiation of a series of four accredited landscape design courses, with Course 1 held in Jacksonville October 5-7, 1959; a 6am bird walk in conjunction with the Short Course at UF, an Advanced Refresher Course offered judges at the Orlando Garden Center, addition of a High School Gardener chairman to the roster and having National Council follow suit with both using “Let’s Teach Flora”-a manual for high school gardeners by Mrs. Charles H. Blanchard of Pensacola as the guide for instruction. Mrs. William C. Knox’ book on Botany, publication of Mrs. Allan Cruickshank’s book “Fun with Birds”, a “Book Honoring” project which continues to add volumes to the Federation’s library at state headquarters, the granting of three-week conservation course scholarships to black teachers desiring to attend FAMU, and the appointment of six Garden Club members to serve on the newly created Governor’s Committee for Roadside Improvement and Safety.
Extension of the Blue Star Memorial Highway system was noted, with 14 markers added and dedicated. World Gardening advanced in strides and a shipment of dried materials made into corsages, epergnes, trays, baskets and plaques, along with treated leaves of many varieties, were sent to Singapore Garden Society for distribution in Malaya.

The Federation was hostess group for the South Atlantic Region convention at Boca Raton just two months prior to the state convention at the Palm Beach Biltmore Hotel, the business agenda for which included delegates approving proposed revisions of the FFGC Charter and Bylaws changing our tax-exempt status with the IRS from 501 c 4 to 501 c 3 permitting a more liberal interpretation of this status.

Mrs. Mayes’ acceptance three awards for Florida at the 1960 National Council Convention in Houston, TX. Attendance at both the Short Course at UF and Tropical Short Course at University of Miami increased. Twenty teachers attended the Conservation Workshop for Teachers at FSU and four of the five Federation scholarships offered at FAMU were granted. More than 200 girls enrolled at Lake Eaton Conservation Camp in the Ocala National Forest with the Sears Foundation contributing a ‘campership” for each of the Federation’s 12 districts.

Thirty-eight women who worked with various youth organizations attended Blanche Covington Nature Study Course at Hugh Taylor Birch State Park and conservation courses in each of the 12 districts attracted a total of 708 new members. Fourteen bird sanctuaries were established during the administration, bringing our total to 96. The first historic marker erected by the Federation in cooperation with the Florida Board of Parks and Memorials under a program authorized by the 1959 Legislature was dedicated at Chattahoochee October 27, 1960. The cast aluminum marker, painted deep green with gold lettering, has the State of Florida seal at the top. It marks the authentic location of the old U. S. Arsenal built in 1832.  (For more info: FLheritage.com: UNITED STATES ARSENAL (1832-1861))
Governor LeRoy Collins’ proclamation designating a special “Don’t Be a Litterbug-Keep Florida Clean Day” at the Federation’s behest was published in 82 newspapers statewide. The 8th State Flower Show, “This is Our Life”, was held December 1-3, 1960, in Sanford attracted hundreds of exhibitors and visitors. Flower Show Schools gained in popularity and the Federation’s ‘Plant Distribution Project Cold Tolerance Report” by Nancy E. Knox and J. J. McSwiney, co-chairmen, was published.
Truly a highlight of the administration was the dedication of State Headquarters Building on February 2, 1961-not quite a year and one month after the Groundbreaking Ceremony-by Mrs. Charles H. Nettleton, first vice president of National Council of State Garden Clubs, “to the useful purpose of the Florida Federation of Garden Clubs in its services to the State of Florida and to its contributions to the beauty of our nation…” A surprise feature was the presentation of an oil portrait of Mrs.  Connor, gift of her Lakes and Hills Garden Club of Mount Dora, to be hung in recognition of her untiring efforts in promoting the Headquarters program.

Grand finale of the administration was the 35th annual FFGC Convention held in St. Petersburg Aril 12-14, 1961, which had as theme “Beatitudes of Beauty.” At its conclusion Mrs. Jack W. Dunlap, as president, headed the corps of officers installed by former president, Mrs. John R. Parkinson. As a Life Member of the Garden Club of Jacksonville, FFGC and National Council of State Garden Clubs, Hazel Dunlap of Orange Park came especially well equipped to the Florida Federation prudency in 1961. Beautification and Conservation were to be emphasized to and by FFGCs more than 30,000 members during the two-year administration for which the chosen theme was “Florida’s Beauty—Our Heritage and our Responsibility.”

 “In A Garden,” written by Mrs. J. Park Stewart of Orlando, was adopted as the Federation’s official song (This can be found on our FFGC.org website) and “Lament for the Litterbug,” by Isabel Taylor Hayes of Tampa Federation was adopted as its official “litterbug” song.

The Florida Gardener, in celebrating its 10th year of service to the Federation and its members, blossomed forth in full color on its covers and won the National Council State Publication Award. Four Foreign Tours carried their full quota of members on thrilling travels and earned profits for FFGC projects, a $15,000 gift from Mrs. Josephine Bay Paul provided for the first “Gateway” planting, five Blue Star Memorial Highway Markers were erected and dedicated with the new Blue Star Marker cover made and donated by Mrs. Earl Lau of Winter Park used at each.

A greenhouse was donated to the Avon Park Correctional Institute through the Federation’s Garden Therapy program, 51 Memorial Trees were planted in “Memory Woodland” at our Headquarters and 82 Life memberships were added to the state roster. The Botany Handbook for Florida was printed by the State Department of Agriculture, an Historic Marker was placed in Koreshan State Park at Estero (For more info: FLheritage.com: "IN THE NAME OF HUMANITY" – Koresh), and November 29, 1962 was designated as “Don’t Be a Litterbug Day” in Florida in a proclamation by Governor Farris Bryant. December 4, 1962, was designated as the first World Gardening Day in Florida by proclamation of Governor Bryant and contributions from clubs and circles provided grants of $50 each to 47 teachers at Teacher conservation Workshops at FSU and to nine at Economics and Resource Use Workshops at FAMU.
A three-color porcelain enamel on steel official emblem bearing a replica of the FFGC seal was approved and made available for use on Civic Directories by individual clubs in improving the appearance of entrances to their towns and cities. The 6th and 7th Tropical Short Courses at University of Miami were well attended and widely acclaimed. Two Garden Club short courses at UF presented the 17th, “Beauty is Forever”, to 193 members and the 18th “Magic for House and Garden” to 298; and the Federation’s library was moved from UF to its permanent home at State Headquarters, Winter Park.

“Dynamic Beauty”, the National Award-winning State Flower Show, made an enchanting prelude to the 36th Annual FFGC Convention which had as theme “Enchanted Heritage” and was held in Jacksonville April 2-3, 1962. It was at this convention Mrs. Dunlap and the Federation were cited for cooperation in the Girl Scout Projects during their Golden Anniversary Year. The Florida Society of Flower Show School Instructors was organized and other firsts including publishing ‘Here’s How To”, and “Corsage Study Course” under FFGC auspices.

At the National Council of State Garden Clubs 1963 Convention in Atlanta, GA, Florida’s Kitty Parkinson of Daytona Beach was elected recording secretary and four other FFGC members including Mrs. L. M. Atkinson, Mrs. C. H. Blanchard, Mrs. Vernon Conner and Mrs. C. R. Mayes were appointed to the National Board. Florida won nine National Awards and a Florida board member gave orchids she grew for decorations at the awards banquet.
Curtain ringer-down on a very successful, progressive and harmonious administration was the Federation’s 37th Annual convention which had as theme “Challenging Destiny” and for which 965 enthusiastic members surged into Miami Beach April 29-30, 1963. “Gardening Together” was the theme chosen by Miami’s Louise M. Hewlett who accepted the gavel April 30, 1963. Louise was a master flower show judge, a member of National Association of Parliamentarians and member of Ikebana International Japanese Flower Arrangement Society. She served as president of the Shenandoah Garden Club and was a founding member of the Riviera Country club in Coral Gables. She was the wife of Frank Hewlett, MD who served during WWII. Togetherness was evident in the friendly cooperation of nine committees who pushed “TREES” to the forefront of the many achievements of this term. To the urging of “Let’s plant a tree in ’63-Let’s plant more in ’64-Then keep our project still alive …and reach our goal in ’65,” an incredible 1,384,294 quality trees were planted. More than 400 members shared together the joys of two Tropical Short Courses set up on a one-day study, one-day fun basis, at University of Miami. Seventy Youth leaders shared ideas and interests at two sessions of Blanche Covington Nature Study course campings. Continuing its strong interest in “the gardeners of tomorrow,” the FFGC board voted $500 from the general fund for the Junior Nature Camp Building Fund. Three years of earnest endeavor and united sharing by Junior Gardeners throughout the state were rewarded when a commemorative bronze plaque marked completion of their project-restoration of The Arrivas Grove in Old St. Augustine. Dedication ceremonies were held at The Grove January 16, 1965, celebrating Arbor Day during that city’s 400th Anniversary observance.
Attendance of 5,553 adults and 158 children attested to the popularity of the 10th State Flower Show, “Florida-Our Land and People,” held in Coral Gables. The Federation’s share of the proceeds was $2,254.93. A “Guardian of Gardening “category was created and Mrs. Robert A. Mooney, Miami, became the first contributor to the fund. At Mrs. Hewett’s suggestion, $1,500 was taken from general funds to inscribe “1963-1965 Executive Board” on the special “Guardians of Gardening” Wall at State Headquarters.

There wasn’t anything “Down to Earth” about the 38th Annual FFGC Convention held May 12-13, 1964, at Hollywood Beach Hotel. It was here The Florida Council of Flower Show School Instructors and The Landscape Critics Council were organized.

Flower Show Schools were held throughout the state, bringing the Judge’s Council roster to 589. Continued Landscape Design Courses brought the total number of Landscape Design Critics to 60. Demands for Florida’s Flower Arrangement Calendar could not be met-25,173 copies were sold in 1964 and 26,041 in 1965 with the profits for the latter year reaching an unprecedented $9,647.23. Blue Star Memorial Highway Markers were erected to boost the Federation’s total to 47 along 1,837 miles of Florida’s approved highways. Two National and 29 State Life Members were added and inviting membership drives pushed FFGCs roster to 30,611. A total of 434 members were made aware of the many benefits derived from gardening at the 19th and 20th Garden Club Short Courses, with the respective themes “Gold at your Fingertips” and “Gardening Together”, at UF.

Participation in World Gardening’s “people-to-people’ program resulted in thousands of packages of seeds, gardening books and magazines being sent to South American and other countries. $2,300 was contributed to CARE, Inc., and American Korean Foundation. An additional $2,200 was spent for seeds. Florida’s contribution to the program won National recognition. Fun-filled foreign tours were enjoyed including a mid-winter tour of Mexico, a Caribbean cruise, a special trip to Greece, the popular 21-day European tour, a 47-day “Grand Tour of Europe” and an around the world trip of 56 exciting days. Profits of $3,430.50 were added to FFGC Endowment funds.

A total of 1,016 members gathered for the Federation’s 39th Annual convention “Charting Our Course Together” held April 28-29, 1965 in Tampa. All were agreeably surprised and thrilled to see FFGC’s own banner standing alongside “Old Glory” and the Florida State Flag. The Federation Flag was a gift by North Tampa Garden Club, the hostess group. Enthusiasm was so contagious that during the Garden Therapy breakfast donations of $98 each were given to Avon Park, Apalachee and Raiford. These were increased by a $400 collection from the assembly.
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